#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

ROBERT F. COLWELL, JR., D.D.S.,	) SUPREME CT. NO. 20-0545
Plaintiff-Appellee,	)
v.	
MCNA INSURANCE COMPANY and MANAGED CARE OF NORTH AMERICA, INC., D/B/A MCNA DENTAL AND MCNA DENTAL PLANS,	) ) ) ) )
Defendants-Appellants	,

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT FOR POTTAWATTAMIE COUNTY, IOWA HON. JAMES HECKERMAN, Judge

#### APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

Anne M. Breitkreutz, AT0001103 Rodney C. Dahlquist, Jr., NE Bar #23912 Dornan, Troia, Howard, Breitkreutz & Conway PC, LLO 1403 Farnam Street, Suite 232 Omaha, Nebraska 68102

Ph.: (402) 884-7044
Fax: (402) 884-7045
<u>Abreit@dltlawyers.com</u>
<u>Rodney@dltlawyers.com</u>

Attorneys for Defendants-Appellants

Statement of the Issues Presented for Review
Routing Statement
Statement of the Case
Statement of the Facts
Argument
I. The District Court erred in applying the federal family planning "Any Willing Provider" Rule to a dentist 21
Error Preservation Statement
II. The District Court erred in broadly construing Iowa Code 249N.6(1), Iowa's "Any Willing Provider" (AWP) rule, without regard for companion limiting authority 25
Error Preservation Statement
III. MCNA's network of general dentist in Colwell's area meets sufficiency standards, thereby permitting removal of Colwell from the network
Error Preservation Statement
IV. The contract between the State of Iowa and MCNA permits nonrenewal of Colwell's Provider Contract 41

### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

### Cases

<u>Albaugh v. The Reserve</u> , 930 N.W.2d 676, 686 (Iowa
2019) 10, 62
Beal v. I.G.F. Insurance Co., 662 N.W.2d 373 (Iowa App.
2003) 10, 51
Carroll Airport Commission v. Danne, 927 N.W.2d 635,
643 (Iowa 2019)
Casey's General Stores, Inc. v. Blackford, 661 N.W.2d
515, 519 (Iowa 2003)
Clarke County Reservoir Commn. v. Abbott, 862 N.W.2d
166, 171 (Iowa 2015) 8, 26
Pavone v. Kirke, 801 N.W.2d 477 (2011) 10, 51
Phipps v. IASD Health Services Corp., 558 N.W.2d 198,
(Iowa 1997)
Pillsbury Co., Inc. v. Wells Dairy, Inc., 752 N.W.2d 430,
435-36 (Iowa 2008) 10, 11, 50, 57
Planned Parenthood v. Betlach, 727 F.3d 960 (9th Cir.
2013)

Planned Parenthood v. Gulf Coast, Inc., 862 F.3d 445
(5th Cir. 2017)
Planned Parenthood of Kansas v. Andersen, 882 F.3d
1205 (10th Cir. 2018)
Service Employees International Union, Local 199 v. Iowa
Board of Regents, 928 N.W.2d 69 (Iowa 2019) 8, 26
Smith v. Smithway Motor Xpress, Inc., 464 N.W.2d 682,
686 (Iowa 1990)
State v. Lambert, 612 N.W.2d 810, 813 (Iowa 2000)
Western Outdoor Advertising Co. v. Board of Review of
Mills County, 364 N.W.2d 256 (Iowa 1985)
Statutes and Ordinances
42 USC § 1396a(a)(23)
Iowa Code 249N 8, 10, 20, 33, 58
Iowa Code 249N.2 8, 28, 29
Iowa Code 249N.2(4)
Iowa Code 249N.3(1)(d) 10, 55, 61
Iowa Code 249N.68, 9, 11, 12, 14, 26, 27, 29, 49, 63

Iowa Code 249N.6(1) 8-10, 25-28, 33, 35, 55
Iowa R. App. P. 6.110111
Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(1)(g)(1)65
Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(1)(g)(2)65
Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(a)
Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(n)
Iowa R. App. P. 6.9077-9, 22, 26, 34, 41
Other
42 CFR § 431.51(a)(4)
42 CFR § 431.51(b)(1)
42 CFR § 431.51(b)(2)
42 CFR § 438.12(b)
42 CFR § 438.12(b)(1)
42 CFR § 438.12(b)(3)
441 IAC, Chapter 73, "Managed Care", Preamble 8, 32
441 IAC 73.8(2) (Choice of providers)
441 IAC 74.12(1)(b)

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

### I. WHETHER THE FEDERAL FREE CHOICE RULE FOR A FAMILY PLANNING PROVIDER APPLIES TO A DENTAL PROVIDER.

42 CFR § 431.51(a)(4)

42 CFR § 431.51(b)(1)

42 CFR § 431.51(b)(2)

42 CFR § 438.12(b)(1)

42 CFR § 438.12(b)(3)

42 USC § 1396a(a)(23)

Carroll Airport Commission v. Danne, 927 N.W.2d 635 (Iowa 2019)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

<u>Planned Parenthood v. Betlach</u>, 727 F.3d 960 (9th Cir. 2013)

Planned Parenthood v. Gulf Coast, Inc., 862 F.3d 445 (5th Cir. 2017)

<u>Planned Parenthood of Kansas v. Andersen</u>, 882 F.3d 1205 (10th Cir. 2018)

### II. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN BROADLY CONSTRUING IOWA CODE 249N.6(1), IOWA'S "ANY WILLING PROVIDER" LAW.

441 IAC, Chapter 73, "Managed Care", Preamble

441 IAC 73.8(2) (Choice of providers)

441 IAC 74.12(1)(b)

Iowa Code 249N

Iowa Code 249N.2

Iowa Code 249N.2(4)

Iowa Code 249N.2(13)

Iowa Code 249N.6

Iowa Code 249N.6(1)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

Clarke County Reservoir Commn. v. Abbott, 862 N.W.2d

166, 171 (Iowa 2015)

Service Employees International Union, Local 199 v. Iowa

Board of Regents, 928 N.W.2d 69 (Iowa 2019)

Western Outdoor Advertising Co. v. Board of Review of

Mills County, 364 N.W.2d 256 (Iowa 1985)

# III. WHETHER MCNA'S NETWORK OF GENERAL DENTISTS WAS ADEQUATE, THEREBY PERMITTING NONRENEWAL OF COLWELL'S PROVIDER AGREEMENT.

Iowa Code 249N.6(1)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

State v. Lambert, 612 N.W.2d 810 (Iowa 2000)

## IV. WHETHER MCNA'S CONTRACT WITH THE STATE OF IOWA MANDATES PERPETUAL RENEWAL OF COLWELL'S PROVIDER CONTRACT.

Iowa Code 249N.6

Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(a)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

Casey's General Stores, Inc. v. Blackford, 661 N.W.2d 515

(Iowa 2003)

Phipps v. IASD Health Services Corp., 558 N.W.2d 198

(Iowa 1997)

Smith v. Smithway Motor Xpress, Inc., 464 N.W.2d 682

(Iowa 1990)

State v. Lambert, 612 N.W.2d 810 (Iowa 2000)

### V. WHETHER THE PROVIDER CONTRACT BETWEEN MCNA AND COLWELL MANDATES PERPETUAL RENEWAL.

Beal v. I.G.F. Insurance Co., 662 N.W.2d 373 (Iowa App. 2003)

Carroll Airport Commission v. Danne, 927 N.W.2d 635

(Iowa 2019)

Iowa Code 249N.3(1)(d)

Iowa Code 249N.6(1)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(n)

Pavone v. Kirke, 801 N.W.2d 477 (2011)

Pillsbury Co., Inc. v. Wells Dairy, Inc., 752 N.W.2d 430 (Iowa 2008)

## VI. WHETHER THE NOTICE OF NONRENEWAL GIVEN BY MCNA TO COLWELL WAS A BREACH OF THE PROVIDER CONTRACT.

42 CFR § 438.12(b)

Albaugh v. The Reserve, 930 N.W.2d 676 (Iowa 2019)

Iowa Code 249N

Iowa Code 249N.3(1)(d)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(a)

Pillsbury Co., Inc. v. Wells Dairy, Inc., 752 N.W.2d 430 (Iowa 2008)

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Based on the factors enunciated in Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101, the Supreme Court should retain this case. This appeal presents substantial issues of first impression, issues that have broad public importance requiring ultimate determination by the Supreme Court, and raises substantial questions of enunciating legal principles related to Iowa Code 249N.6, the "Any Willing Provider" Rule.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal by MCNA Insurance Company and Managed Care of North America, Inc. ("MCNA"), from an Order entered on March 17, 2020, by the District Court of Pottawattamie County, Iowa. Generally, this appeal challenges the District Court's findings that MCNA was required to renew Plaintiff-

Appellee Robert F. Colwell, Jr. DDS' ("Colwell") contract. The nature of this case principally involves the determination of the scope and application of Iowa Code 249N.6, the State's "Any Willing Provider" Rule, as applied to a dental Medicaid provider.

Course of Proceedings: On July 23, 2019, Colwell filed a Verified Petition at Law in the District Court of Pottawattamie County, Iowa, alleging that MCNA breached the parties' contract, breached the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and intentionally interfered with his business relationships. Appendix v. I, pp. 17-20. Colwell generally alleged that MCNA breached the contract between the parties by not renewing his Provider Contract beyond the then-current term. He also sought a temporary and permanent injunction to prevent MCNA from not renewing the parties' contract. Appendix v. I, pp. The same day, Colwell moved for temporary 20-21. injunctive relief to stay the nonrenewal of his Provider Contract. Appendix v. I, p. 213.

On July 29, 2019, the Court granted Plaintiff's Motion for Injunctive Relief and scheduled a bench trial. Appendix v. I, p. 219. On August 12, 2019, Defendants filed an Answer and Affirmative Defenses denying Plaintiff's causes of action and affirmatively alleging, generally, that Defendants did not terminate Colwell's contract and that nonrenewing the parties' agreement was permitted under federal and state law. Appendix v. I, pp. 225-230.

On September 4, 2019, trial was held before the Hon. James S. Heckerman, and after several status hearings, the Court ordered the parties to submit proposed orders to the Court by February 7, 2020. [Order, December 20, 2019].

**Disposition in District Court:** On February 17, 2020, the Court adopted and entered the proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law submitted by Colwell. Appendix v. I, pp. 231-260. The Order found that MCNA breached Colwell's Provider Contract when it failed to renew it for another annual term. The Order first found

that Iowa Code 249N.6, Iowa's Any Willing Provider statute, required MCNA to renew Colwell's provider agreement. Appendix v. I, pp. 242-246. The Court also found that a federal "family planning" provider law applied to Colwell, a dental provider, thereby preventing nonrenewal. Appendix v. I, pp. 246-250. Additionally, the Order found that neither the Provider Contract between MCNA and Colwell, nor the Provider Manual incorporated therein, permitted nonrenewal of the contract. Appendix v. I, pp. 237-241, 255-257.

The District Court ruled that the notice actually constituted a "termination", was a breach of the parties' contract and that MCNA was required to renew Colwell's contract year-over-year. Appendix v. I, p. 258. Based on the temporary injunction previously entered, the Court found that Count III (Intentional Interference with Existing and Potential Business Relationships) was moot. Appendix v. I, p. 259.

On February 28, 2020, MCNA timely moved the District Court to reconsider and amend this Order

(Appendix v. I, pp. 261-263), but on March 16, 2020, the Court denied this motion in its entirety, making no change to its prior disposition. [Order, March 16, 2020]. Defendants timely appealed this decision. Appendix v. I, p. 267.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

MCNA provides managed care dental services to for Medicaid including Iowa, beneficiaries. states, Appendix v. I, p. 8 ¶2, p. 9 ¶10; p. 224 ¶¶ 2, 10. MCNA is a licensed health insurer, providing Medicaid services to over seven million beneficiaries in several states. Appendix v. I, p. 325 (Tr. 137:14-19). MCNA provides this service in Iowa through a contract with the State of Iowa (the "State Contract"). Appendix v. II, pp. 194-375. Under the State Contract, MCNA performs manifold functions related to the delivery of dental Medicaid services, including the development and maintenance of a network of dental to provide direct treatment to providers Medicaid

enrollees/beneficiaries. Appendix v. II, pp. 221-227 (Section E "Providers and Provider Network").

Pursuant to this Section, MCNA is required to "maintain and monitor a network of appropriate providers that is sufficient to provide adequate access to all services covered under this [State] Contract for all enrollees, including those with limited English proficiency or physical or mental disabilities." Appendix v. II, p. 222. Further, MCNA is also required to "ensure that enrollees have adequate access to dentists", meaning within 30 miles/30 minutes for urban areas or within 60 miles/60 minutes for rural area. Appendix v. II, p. 222. MCNA, not the State, maintains its provider network. Appendix v. I, p. 381 (Tr. 221:5-15).

In order to be part of MCNA's network, dentists are first required to be a provider with State Medicaid. Appendix v. I, p. 276 (Tr. 8:2-8). MCNA is required to generate its network of both general and specialist providers through mandatory written contracts. Appendix v. II, p. 222. MCNA's network provides dental treatment

to adult Medicaid beneficiaries. Appendix v. I, pp. 327-328 (Tr. 141:16-142:2). The State of Iowa reviewed and approved the contract used by MCNA, including Colwell's contract. Appendix v. I, p. 402 (Tr. 247:5-9).

In generating its provider network, the State requires MCNA to "offer to contract with all federally Qualified Health Centers (FQHCs) and Rural Health Clinics (RHCs) located in Iowa." Appendix v. II, p. 222. However, this same provision does not require MCNA to offer to contract with all other types of providers. In fact, the State Contract makes it clear that MCNA is not required "to contract with more providers than necessary to meet the needs of its enrollees." Appendix v. II, p. 233.

At all relevant times, Colwell was a dentist licensed by the State of Iowa, and was a provider in MCNA's network. Appendix v. I, p. 8 ¶1, p. 10 ¶11-13; p. 224 ¶¶1, 11-13. At the time of trial, he had practiced dentistry for twenty years (Appendix v. I, 9. 274 (Tr. 6:1-2)), and had no disciplinary action taken against his license. Appendix v. I, p. 274 (Tr. 6:13-15).

In 2016, Colwell entered into a Master Dental Provider Agreement (the "Provider Contract") with MCNA. Appendix v. I, p. 280 (Tr. 13:8-11); Appendix v. II, pp. 8-24, 25-189. This Provider Contract has a one-year term, with a type of "evergreen provision". Appendix v. II, p. 19. Colwell was classified as a general dentist in the MCNA network, having no board-certified specialty. Appendix v. I, pp. 317-318 (Tr. 115:3-116:14). Colwell practices in Council Bluffs, Pottawattamie County. Appendix v. I, p. 273 (Tr. 5:15-17); Appendix v. III, p. 11. MCNA's network in Pottawattamie and the surrounding area is comprised of numerous general dentists, all licensed the same as Colwell. Appendix v. II, p. 564 (showing 103 search results); Appendix v. III, pp. 11-12, 14.

During his time as a provider in MCNA's network, Colwell utilized an "inordinate amount of [MCNA] staff time" to address ongoing problems. Appendix v. I, p. 355 (Tr. 190:2-4). His offices routinely struggled to provide supporting documentation for preauthorization requests and payment claim requested. Appendix v. I, pp. 355 (Tr.

190:5-7), 357 (Tr. 192:12-20). Further, Colwell or his staff were abusive to MCNA employees, to the degree that it caused some MCNA staff to break into tears. Appendix v. I, pp. 355 (Tr. 190:13-24), 356 (Tr. 191: 18-20), 363-364 (Tr. 200:21-201:3). Colwell's problems persisted over the course of years, without any improvement, even after MCNA provided education on these topics to Colwell. Appendix v. I, pp. 357 (Tr. 192:20-23), 368 (Tr. 205:3-8). Colwell himself admitted that his office has struggled with many issues. Appendix v. I, p. 303 (Tr. 56:7-11).

Prior to Colwell's Provider Contract renewal date, MCNA examined other available general providers in the same region as Colwell. Appendix v. I, pp. 397 (Tr. 242:11-18), 399 (Tr. 244:3-11); Appendix v. III, pp. 11-12, 13-14. After determining that its network would remain adequate after his removal, Colwell was notified by MCNA on April 24, 2019, that his Provider Contract would not be renewed for another successive one-year term. Appendix v. I, pp. 329-330 (Tr. 143:16-144:4); Appendix v. II, p. 191.

On July 23, 2019, Colwell initiated the present action, as summarized above in the "Course of Proceedings" section. The present appeal followed the District Court decision, as summarized in the "Disposition in District Court" section.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The District Court erred in concluding that MCNA was required to renew Colwell's Provider Contract, year after year, in perpetuity. In so holding, the District Court erroneously found that a federal "Any Willing Family Planning Provider" Rule applied to a dentist. It also incorrectly construed Iowa Code 249N broadly, without considering limiting definitions within the statute, the applicable Iowa Administrative Code or the companion agreements. When properly applied and construed, these statutes do not mandate renewal of Colwell's agreement with MCNA.

MCNA's ability to not renew Colwell's contract is exemplified in the agreement between the State of Iowa

and MCNA. It is likewise contemplated and permitted by the Provider Contract itself between MCNA and Colwell. Because the network of general dentists in Colwell's area meets sufficiency standards, even after his removal from the network, MCNA's notice of nonrenewal of Colwell's Provider Contract was valid and effective.

# I. The District Court erred in applying a federal family planning "Any Willing Provider" Rule to a dentist.

**Issue Preservation:** The applicability of the federal free choice of family planning provider rule was decided by the District Court in its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, dated February 17, 2020. Appendix v. I, pp. 246-250. This issue was raised in MCNA's Motion to Reconsider and Amend. Appendix v. I, p. 262.

Scope and Standard of Appellate Review: This Court "review[s] the district court's legal conclusions [relating to federal law] for correction of errors at law." Carroll Airport Commission v. Danne, 927 N.W.2d 635,

643 (Iowa 2019) (internal citations omitted); see also Iowa R. App. P. 6.907.

Appellant's Contentions and Arguments: The district court erred in applying the federal AWP Rule broadly into the uncharted waters of a State's Medicaid dental provider. There is no federal statute, regulation or case that applies the federal "free-choice-of-provider" rule to a dentist, and to do so contradicts the rule's language. Therefore, this Court should reverse that portion of the District Court's Order which applies 42 USC § 1396a(a)(23) to the present dispute.

for State plan medical assistance must...provide that (A) any individual eligible for medical assistance (including drugs) may obtain such assistance from any institution, agency, community pharmacy, or person, qualified to perform the service or services required (including an organization which provides such services, or arranges for their availability, on a prepayment basis), undertakes to provide him such services, and (B) an enrollment of an individual eligible for medical assistance in a primary care casemanagement system (described in section 1396n(b)(1) of this title), a Medicaid managed care organization, or a similar entity shall not restrict the choice of the qualified person from whom the individual may receive services under section 1396d(a)(4)(C) of this title **[for family planning services]**....

42 USC § 1396a(a)(23) (emphasis added).

As further stated in the federal regulations, "a beneficiary enrolled in a primary care case management system or Medicaid managed care organization (MCO) may not be denied freedom of choice of qualified providers of family planning services." 42 CFR § 431.51(a)(4) (emphasis added). And while 42 CFR § 431.51(b)(1) requires a State-run Medicaid plan to include any provider that is "qualified" and "willing", 42 CFR § 431.51(b)(2) does not impose this mandate on managed care entities, except in the context of "family planning services." A managed care entity is not required to include more providers in its network "beyond the number necessary to meet the needs of its enrollees", and it is free to implement "measures that are designed to...control costs and are consistent with its responsibilities to enrollees." 42 CFR § 438.12(b)(1) and (3).

The cases cited in the Order apply this rule only in the family planning context. See Planned Parenthood of Kansas v. Andersen, 882 F.3d 1205 (10th Cir. 2018) (finding that federal Medicaid rules exempt "family planning services from limits that may otherwise apply approved Medicaid plans"); under state Planned Parenthood v. Gulf Coast, Inc., 862 F.3d 445 (5th Cir. 2017) (finding the federal free-choice-of-provider provision requires patients to "choose among the family planning medical practitioners they could use were they paying out of their own pockets"); Planned Parenthood v. Betlach, 727 F.3d 960 (9th Cir. 2013) ("Even if a state otherwise exercises its option to implement a managed-care system, § 1396a(a)(23)(B) makes clear that as to family planning services, state Medicaid plans must afford recipients the full range of free choice of provider").

MCNA is a managed care entity, providing Medicaid dental services to the State of Iowa. Appendix v. I, p. 8 ¶2, p. 9 ¶10, p. 224 ¶¶2, 10, p. 325 (Tr. 137:14-19); Appendix v. II, pp. 194-375. Therefore, under federal law, it is

permitted to limit the number of providers with which it contracts, and it can utilize cost control measures.

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