### IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

NO. 20-0545

# ROBERT F. COLWELL, JR., D.D.S., Plaintiff-Appellee

v.

MCNA INSURANCE COMPANY AND MANAGED CARE OF NORTH AMERICA, INC. d/b/a MCNA DENTAL AND MCNA DENTAL PLANS, Defendants-Appellants

# APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POTTAWATTAMIE COUNTY HON. JAMES HECKERMAN, JUDGE

### FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Rebecca A. Brommel AT0001235

DORSEY & WHITNEY LLP

801 Grand Ave., Suite 4100

Des Moines, IA 50309

Telephone: 515-283-1000

Facsimile: 515-283-1060

E-mail: brommel.rebecca@dorsey.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

#

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING THAT MCNA COULD ONLY TERMINATE, RATHER THAN NOT RENEW, THE MASTER DENTAL PROVIDER AGREEMENT WITH COLWELL.
  - A. Preservation of Error, Scope of Review and Standard of Review.

Colwell agrees with MCNA's assertion that error has been preserved on the issue of interpretation of the terms of the Master Dental Provider Agreement. See MCNA's Brief, Argument § V. While MCNA's statements regarding the scope and standard of review are not wholly incorrect, they are incomplete. See MCNA's Brief, p. 49.

An action for breach of contract is reviewed for errors at law. <u>Kurt v. Reams</u>, 683 N.W.2d 127, \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. 2004) (citing <u>Land O'Lakes</u>,

Inc. v. Hanig, 610 N.W.2d 518, 522 (Iowa 2000)). The District Court's findings of fact, as set forth in the February 17, 2020 Order, "have the effect of a special verdict and are binding if supported by substantial evidence." Id. (citing Land O'Lakes, Inc., 610 N.W.2d at 522); see also Poole v. Hawkeye Area Community Action Program, Inc., 666 N.W.2d 560, 565 (Iowa 2003) (holding that the findings of fact of a district court bench trial are to be affirmed if supported by substantial evidence). **Substantial** evidence is evidence that a "reasonable mind would accept...as adequate to reach a legal conclusion" and such evidence must be viewed in "a light most favorable to" the judgment of the District Court. Kurt, 683 N.W.2d at \*2 (citing Land O'Lakes, Inc., 610 N.W.2d at 522). If the District Court's findings "are ambiguous, they will be construed to uphold, not defeat, the judgment." Hodges v. Boline, 746 N.W.2d 280, \*1 (Iowa Ct. App. 2008) (quoting Chrysler Financial Co. v. Bergstrom, 703 N.W.2d 415, 419 (Iowa 2005)). The District Court's legal conclusions and application of legal principles are not binding on this Court, but this Court is only to reverse if it concludes that the District Court "erroneously applied rules of law that materially affected its decision." Kurt, 683 N.W.2d at \*2 (citing Land O'Lakes, 610 N.W.2d at 522).

# B. The District Court Correctly Held That There is No "Nonrenewal" Option in the Master Dental Provider Agreement.

MCNA's assertion that it did not breach the Master Dental Provider Agreement hinges on its contention that it was at liberty to not renew such contract rather than follow the termination requirements. See MCNA's Brief, pp. 49-56. The District Court disagreed with MCNA's assertions and held that the Master Dental Provider Agreement did not provide for nonrenewal and that MCNA's own actions and statements belied such analysis. App. Vol. I, p. 241 - Order, p. 11. The provision at issue in the Master Dental Provider Agreement states as follows:

**Term.** This Agreement shall have an initial term of one (1) year commencing on the Effective Date [June 21, 2016]. Thereafter, this Agreement shall automatically renew for terms of one (1) year each. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement may terminate in accordance with the Termination sections below.

App. Vol. II, p. 19 - Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, Art. X, ¶ 1, p. 12. The Master Dental Provider Agreement then provides that it may be terminated under any of the specified circumstances listed in Article X, paragraph 2. App. Vol. II, pp. 19-20 - Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, Art. X, ¶ 2, pp. 12-13.

The Iowa Supreme Court has described the analysis of contractual language as follows:

[Contract] [i]nterpretation is the process for determining the meaning of words used by the parties in a contract. Interpretation of a contract is a legal issue unless the interpretation of a contract depends on extrinsic evidence. On the other hand, construction of a contract is the process a court uses to determine the legal effects of the words.

The cardinal rule of contract interpretation is to determine what the intent of the parties was at the time they entered into the contract. "Words and other conduct are interpreted in the light of all the circumstances, and if the principal purpose of the parties is ascertainable it is given great weight." Another relevant rule of contract interpretation requires that "[w]herever reasonable, the manifestations of intention of the parties to a promise or agreement are interpreted as consistent with each other and with any relevant course of performance, course of dealing, or usage of trade."

These rules of interpretation are general in character and only serve as guides in the process of interpretation. The rules do not depend upon a determination that there is an ambiguity, but we use them to determine "what meanings are reasonably possible as well in choosing among possible meanings."

Long ago we abandoned the rule that extrinsic evidence cannot change the plain meaning of a contract. We now recognize the rule in the Restatement (Second) of Contracts that states the meaning of a contract "can almost never been plain except in a context." Accordingly,

"[a]ny determination of meaning or ambiguity should only be made in the light of relevant evidence of the situation and relations of the parties, the subject matter of the transaction, preliminary negotiations and statements made therein, usages of trade, and the course of dealing between the parties. But after the transaction has been shown in all its length and breadth, the words of an integrated agreement remain the most important evidence of intention."

In other words, although we allow extrinsic evidence to aid in the process of interpretation, the words of the agreement are still the most important evidence of the party's intentions at the time they entered into the contract. When the interpretation of a contract depends upon the credibility of extrinsic evidence or on a choice among reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the extrinsic evidence, the question of interpretation is determined by the finder of fact.

Pillsbury Co., Inc. v. Wells Dairy, Inc., 752 N.W.2d 430, 435-36 (Iowa 2008) (citing Fashion Fabrics of Iowa, Inc. v. Retail Investors Corp., 266 N.W.2d 22, 25 (Iowa 1978); citing Walsh v. Nelson, 622 N.W.2d 499, 503 (Iowa 2001); citing Hamilton v. Wosepka, 261 Iowa 299, 313, 154 N.W.2d 164, 171-72 (1967); quoting Fausel v. JRJ Enterprises, Inc., 603 N.W.2d 612, 618 (Iowa 1999); quoting Restatement (Second) of Contracts, §§ 202(1), 202(5), 202 cmt. a, 212 cmt. b (1979)). Here, the words and the extrinsic evidence relied upon by the Court, as well as the Court's legal analysis, appropriately held that MCNA could only terminate, rather than "not renew" the Master Dental Provider Agreement. App. Vol. I, pp. 237-241 - Order, pp. 7-11.

The plain reading of the provision at issue is that the Master Dental Provider Agreement only ends if there is a termination under Article X, paragraph 2. App. Vol. II, p. 19 - Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, Art. X, ¶ 1, p. 12. Otherwise, the Master Dental Provider Agreement automatically renews each year for another year. App. Vol. II, p. 19 - Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, Art. X,

¶ 1, p. 12. MCNA's own witness admitted that there is no language in the Master Dental Provider Agreement that specifically allows for nonrenewal and that this alleged right could only be "implied." App. Vol. I, pp. 368-369 - Trial Tr. 205:25-206:23. An implied and self-serving reading of this provision does not outweigh the clear language of Article X. See Fashion Fabrics of Iowa, Inc., 266 N.W.2d at 28 (holding that implied covenants cannot be found when a contract is fully integrated); App. Vol. II, p. 22 - Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, Art. XI, ¶ 8, p. 15 (providing integration clause).

In a new argument, MCNA asserts that the heading of Article X "Term and Termination" supports its argument for nonrenewal, because the heading "contemplated" two concepts – a specific duration or term and termination requirements. See MCNA's Brief, p. 52. This argument is without merit in that it attempts to elevate a paragraph label or title above the actual language utilized in the provision itself. The Master Dental Provider Agreement prohibits MCNA from relying upon the heading to change or limit the provision at issue: "Headings/Recitals. The headings of the sections of this Agreement are inserted merely for the purpose of convenience and *do not, expressly or by implication, limit, define, or extend the specific terms of the section so designated*. The Recitals are incorporated into this Agreement." App. Vol. II, p. 21 - Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, Art. XI, ¶ 4

(emphasis added). Even if the heading did have any weight in interpreting the provision at issue, it does not support MCNA's argument. There is a contract term – one year plus an endless number of automatic one-year renewals – and a termination provision. App. Vol. II, p. 19 - Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, Art. X,  $\P$  1, p. 12. Simply because MCNA does not like the term length for purpose of its relationship with Colwell does not change the language of the Master Dental Provider Agreement.

As found by the District Court, the extrinsic evidence of MCNA's actions in attempting to end the Master Dental Provider Agreement further support this plain reading. App. Vol. I, pp. 240-241 - Order, pp. 10-11. MCNA's April 24, 2019 letter to Colwell refers to the entirety of Article X of the Master Dental Provider Agreement, not just paragraph 1. App. Vol. II, p. 191 - Plaintiff's Exhibit 4. Furthermore, the letter uses the word "termination" four times and instructs Colwell as to his obligations under the Agreement, federal law and state law with regard to continuing to provide services to its members until the "Termination Effective Date," until completion of the member's course of treatment or until such time that the patient can be transitioned. App. Vol. II, p 191 - Plaintiff's Exhibit 4; App. Vol. I, p. 332 - Trial Tr. 151:4-18; see also App. Vol. II, p. 20 - Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, Art. X, ¶ 3 (describing the same rights and obligations upon termination as set forth in the letter). MCNA also sent letters to patients advising them of Colwell's end date, an action that is only required upon termination. App. Vol. II, p. 20 - Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, Art. X, ¶ 4; App. Vol. I, pp. 281-282 - Trial Tr. 31:23-32:17.

As the District Court also found, the fact that the Provider Manual does not address nonrenewal further supports that this is not a valid option under the Master Dental Provider Agreement. App. Vol. I, p. 257 - Order, p. 27. MCNA's argument that there is nothing in the contract or the Provider Manual that *prohibits* it from not renewing the Master Dental Provider Agreement turns the concept of contract interpretation on its head by relying upon the lack of prohibitive language rather than the language used in the contract. See MCNA's Brief, pp. 52-53; see Pillsbury Co., Inc., 752 N.W.2d at 435-36. The Provider Manual, which is incorporated into and makes up "one integrated contract" with the Master Dental Provider Agreement, provides an even more restricted and specific list of reasons for termination. App. Vol. II, pp. 10, 53 - Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, Art. II, ¶ 2, p. 3; Plaintiff's Exhibit 2, p. 29. Because the Provider Manual provides more specific reasons than the Master Dental Provider Agreement, the Provider Manual provisions are controlling. See Iowa Fuel & Minerals, Inc. v. Iowa State Board of Regents, 471 N.W.2d 859, 863 (Iowa 1991) ("A second principle

of construction applicable here provides that when a contract contains both general and specific provisions on a particular issue, the specific provisions are controlling.") (citing Mopper v. Circle Key Life Insurance Co., 172 N.W.2d 118, 126 (Iowa 1969); Schlosser v. Van Dusseldorp, 251 Iowa 521, 526, 101 N.W.2d 715, 718 (1960)). The Provider Manual includes in the causes for termination things such as misrepresentation on the credentialing application, failure to meet participating criteria, failure to provide requested dental records and failure to maintain professional liability coverage. App. Vol. II, p. 53 - Plaintiff's Exhibit 2, p. 29. None of these reasons apply to Colwell, and the reasons given by MCNA (a business decision to eliminate administrative cost and personnel time related to Colwell) is not an identified basis for termination under the Master Dental Provider Agreement or any applicable law.

The District Court's interpretation of Article X is also supported by the common definitions of "nonrenewal" and "termination". See Harrington v. University of Northern Iowa, 726 N.W.2d 363, 368 (Iowa 2007) ("In searching for the meaning of contractual terms, we often resort to the dictionary to ascertain a term's common meaning."). Nonrenewal is "[a] failure to renew something, such as a lease or an insurance policy." Black's Law Dictionary, p. 1220 (10<sup>th</sup> ed. 2014). Here, the Master Dental Provider

Agreement states, on its face, that it is *automatically* renewable. App. Vol. II, p. 19 - Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, Art. X, ¶ 1. There cannot be a "failure to renew" when no further action is necessary to renew the Agreement. On the other hand, termination is "to put an end to; to bring to an end." <u>Id.</u> at p. 1700. That is exactly what MCNA's April 24, 2019 letter did – it advised Colwell that MCNA was ending – in other words, terminating – the Master Dental Provider Agreement as of August 4, 2019. App. Vol. II, p. 191 - Plaintiff's Exhibit 4.

In its Brief, MCNA cites to <u>Beal v. I.G.F. Insurance Co.</u>, 662 N.W.2d 373 (Iowa Ct. App. 2003) in support of its nonrenewal argument. <u>See</u> MCNA's Brief, p. 50. The District Court, however, appropriately recognized the distinction between the contract provision at issue in that case as compared with the Master Dental Provider Agreement at issue here. App. Vol. I, p. 238 - Order, p. 8. In <u>Beal</u>, the provision at issue included the following language: "...this Agreement shall automatically be extended without further action of either party for one year periods *unless, not later than six months prior to the end of the effective term*, either Company or the Employee *shall have given written notice that such party does not intend to extend this Agreement*." <u>Beal</u>, 662 N.W.2d at \*1 (emphasis added). Similar language does not exist here and according to MCNA's Executive Vice

President, would have to be "implied" to support MCNA's position. App. Vol. I, p. 369 - Trial Tr. 206:6-12.

The District Court's reading of the Master Dental Provider Agreement is also supported by a 1994 decision of the Iowa Supreme Court. See Martin v. Waterloo Community School District, 518 N.W.2d 381 (Iowa 1994). In Martin v. Waterloo Community School District, the Court addressed a statute in effect at the time of Martin's claim and an amendment to such statute in assessing whether the school board's action constituted a nonrenewal or a termination. Id. at 382-83. The two statutory provisions were as follows:

An administrator's contract shall remain in force and effect for the period stated in the contract. The contract shall be automatically continued in force and effect for one year beyond the end of its term, except as modified or terminated by mutual agreement of the board of directors and the administrator, or until terminated as hereinafter provided. Iowa Code § 279.24 (1991) (emphasis added).

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